RECEIVED

04-10-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1318-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

FREDRICK RAMSEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Nonfinal Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Admit Evidence, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Mark A. Sanders, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DUSTIN C. HASKELL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1071804

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4807 haskelld@opd.wi.gov

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Does the *Denny* test infringe on a defendant's constitutional right to present a defense?

The circuit court denied the defendant's argument that he had a constitutional right to present evidence inculpating a third-party perpetrator.

2. Did the circuit court err by excluding third-partyperpetrator evidence under *Denny*?

The circuit court excluded the evidence, finding the defendant had not offered a plausible motive or opportunity for the third-party perpetrator to commit the crime.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is warranted to address the constitutionality of Wisconsin's test for the admission of third-party perpetrator evidence. Further, oral argument is appropriate to address this important constitutional question.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 11, 2016, Alexandria Taylor was killed by a single stab wound to the chest; she also had a superficial cut near her temple. (1; 30:13.) No one saw the stabbing, and even Ms. Taylor was unable to identify her attacker. In a statement shortly before she died, she told a friend, "somebody stabbed me." (21:24; 30:9; App. 107.)

Although there were no eyewitnesses, police recovered physical evidence inculpating Julian Teague, who lived four blocks from where Ms. Taylor was stabbed. (10:7-8, 11; App. 142-43.) Fingernail clippings taken from Ms. Taylor were checked for DNA, and a search at the State Crime Lab turned up a match for Mr. Teague. (13:7-8.) Police subsequently obtained a DNA swab from Mr. Teague to confirm the match. (21:28; App. 145.) After further testing, the crime lab confirmed that the DNA from Ms. Taylor's fingernails was consistent with Mr. Teague's profile, and that the odds of randomly selecting a comparable match was "one in 300 thousand." (21:26; App. 143.)

Police interviewed Mr. Teague, and he denied knowing Ms. Taylor, and declined to make a further statement. (21:28; App. 145.) Mr. Teague was later arrested for throwing rocks at cars. (10:11; App. 146.) During an interview, he said he was throwing the rocks because "he has been getting harassed in his neighborhood by people giving him the finger, and people at Walmart who bump into him." (*Id.*) Police asked Mr. Teague about Ms. Taylor. He denied knowing her, then related that "he does not know how his DNA got under her fingernails, but stated that he has had sex with girls in the neighborhood." (*Id.*) He said sex was the only explanation for his DNA under her fingernails, and that he had sex with 30 women who lived in his nearby apartment building. (*Id.*)

Before police had the DNA evidence implicating Mr. Teague, they interviewed Ms. Taylor's long-term boyfriend, Fredrick Ramsey. There was no DNA evidence connecting Mr. Ramsey to the crime, but he admitted arguing with Ms. Taylor earlier in the evening. Seven detectives then proceeded to interrogate Mr. Ramsey for 17 hours over three days. (16:8.) Mr. Ramsey eventually admitted to stabbing Ms. Taylor.

An expert reviewed Mr. Ramsey's interrogation and concluded that nearly every possible "risk factor" for a false confession was present, thereby "undermin[ing] the reliability Ramsey's self-incriminating statements." of (16:6.)Specifically, the expert noted "physical and social isolation, confrontation, false evidence tactics (e.g., the bluff), ignoring claims of innocence, maximization (threatening the suspect with negative consequences if he does not confess), minimization (downplaying the moral seriousness of the offense), use of the alternative (forced choice) question, and leniency tactics (statements that lead the suspect to infer favorable treatment in exchange for an admission of guilt)." (Id.) The report pointed out that all seven interrogating detectives "repeatedly confronted Ramsey with false evidence of guilt," by falsely asserting they had video of the stabbing. (Id.) When he did "confess," Mr. Ramsey did not offer a single fact that had not already been provided by the detectives. The text of the confession reflects Mr. Ramsey's effort to satisfy the detective, rather to tell an independent story.¹

1	-	
-	Hat	
	L.g	

0	
Ramsey:	And I stab her two times in the chest.
Detective:	(makes a 'no' noise)
Ramsey:	I stab her on her [left/other] side.
Detective:	Left side of what?
Ramsey:	Left side of her back.
Detective:	(makes a 'no' noise)
Ramsey:	I stab her on the left side of her front?
Detective:	(makes a 'no' noise)

Ramsey: Where did I stab her the second time, Jim? I know I hit her again. I stabbed her again.

When the interrogation ended, the State charged Mr. Ramsey with one count of second-degree reckless homicide. (1); Wis. Stat. \S 940.06(1).²

Mr. Ramsey filed a **Denny**³ motion, allowing him to argue that Mr. Teague was the actual killer. (9; App. 127.) Mr. Ramsey further argued that admitting the DNA evidence was necessary to protect his "constitutional right [to present a defense]." (13:2.)

The State conceded that the court should admit evidence that someone else's DNA was found in the victim's fingernail clippings. (10:1-2; App. 129-30.) However, it argued the court should exclude any evidence specifically implicating Mr. Teague. (*Id.*) The State argued that under the *Denny* test, Mr. Ramsey was unable to identify a plausible motive or opportunity for Mr. Teague to commit the crime, so the evidence was inadmissible. (*Id.* at 2-4.)

The circuit court held a hearing on the motion where the parties briefly reiterated their arguments, then the court ruled on the motion. The court considered each of the three prongs of the *Denny* test: (1) motive, (2) opportunity, and (3) a direct connection between Mr. Teague and the crime. (30:20-27; App. 118-25.)

The court first found that Mr. Ramsey had not offered a "plausible motive" for Mr. Teague to commit the crime:

^(18:259.)

 $^{^2}$ The charge was later amended to first-degree reckless homicide. (12); Wis. Stat. § 940.02(1).

³ State v. Denny, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984).

What is required of the defense is that they demonstrate not that there are motives to commit a crime but that the third party had a motive to commit the crime. Here the defense alleges by implication that Mr. Teague had a motive to commit the crime and that the motive was apparently frustration over а thwarted sexual opportunity. That is, certainly the motive for sexual opportunity is a motive. Human beings being sexual animals, anytime anybody had been killed or had been sexually assaulted, the motive could be thwarted sexual opportunity.

The question here is whether there is any evidence that Mr. Teague had that motive. There doesn't have to be a lot of evidence, just some evidence. The defense suggests that Mr. Teague's Casanova-like amorous conquests of 20 to 30 women that he references in his statement is evidence that he randomly solicits sex or has some interest in sexuality or he, therefore, has some motive in -- to commit this particular crime.

I don't think that it's sufficient evidence. That is evidence that Mr. Teague has sex. That same motive applies to everybody in the room. We're all adults. Nothing suggests that Mr. Teague had the motive to commit the crime. There are plausible reasons that people, in general, would commit the crime and sexual desire is one of them. But there is nothing that says that Mr. Teague had that particular motive any more than any other human being on the planet. The motive prong has not been satisfied.

(30:23-24; App. 121-22.)

As to opportunity, the court found this was the "strongest part of the defense position." (30:24; App. 122.) The court agreed that the Mr. Teague's DNA on the victim suggested recent contact between the two of them, so it found that prong satisfied. (30:24-25; App. 122-23.)

The court then found there was no direct connection between Mr. Teague and the crime. The court reiterated that the DNA was strong evidence connecting Mr. Teague to the location, but not to the crime:

> There is nothing that suggests perpetration of a crime by the third party. The defense suggests that: Well, it's his disturbing criminal history. His criminal history isn't disturbing. The defense suggests it's his level of sexual conquest. It is not for me to determine whether having 20 or 30 sex partners makes one more likely to perpetrate the crime of homicide. There just isn't any evidence of direct connection. The only evidence here is that Mr. -- that there is a partial profile under the victim's fingernails that matches Mr. Teague to a random probability of 1 in 300,000, that Mr. Teague lived four blocks away. That's the only evidence here.

> It is insufficient to meet the three-prong test for Denny evidence to be admitted.

(30:26-27; App. 124-25.) Therefore, the court denied the *Denny* motion. (30:26-27; 20; App. 124-25.)

Mr. Ramsey filed a petition to appeal the non-final order denying the motion to admit evidence that Mr. Teague was the killer. (21.) This court granted the petition. (24.)

ARGUMENT

Mr. Ramsey's constitutional right to present a defense protects his right to inculpate Mr. Teague at his trial. The unexplained presence of Mr. Teague's DNA under the victim's fingernails directly connects him to the offense, and is probative of Mr. Ramsey's possible guilt. Insofar as the *Denny* test is interpreted to exclude this evidence, it is unconstitutional. The constitutional right to present a defense necessarily trumps any conflicting rule of evidence. *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 324-25 (2006).

Though this court may not overrule its own prior decisions or those of the Wisconsin Supreme Court, it is unbound by those decisions insofar as they conflict with federal constitutional law. *See State v. Jennings*, 2002 WI 44, ¶¶ 17-19, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142.

If this court finds the *Denny* test constitutional, Mr. Ramsey is still entitled to present evidence inculpating Mr. Teague. Mr. Ramsey has offered a "plausible motive" for Mr. Teague to commit the crime, and Mr. Teague's DNA provides evidence of both an opportunity and a direct connection to the crime.

This case presents two questions: (1) whether the **Denny** test unconstitutionally infringes on defendants' constitutional right to present a defense, and, alternatively, (2) whether the **Denny** test warrants admission of evidence inculpating Mr. Teague. These are both questions of law, which this court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Wilson*, 2015 WI 48, ¶ 47, 362 Wis. 2d 193, 864 N.W.2d 52.

I. Mr. Ramsey's constitutional right to present a defense protects his right to present evidence that Mr. Teague's DNA was found under the victim's fingernails.

Mr. Ramsey, like every criminal defendant, has a constitutional right to present a complete defense. There is no singular source for this right; rather, it springs from the Due Process Clause in the Fourteenth Amendment, and the Compulsory Process and Confrontation clauses in the Sixth Amendment. *Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986). The Wisconsin Supreme Court has recognized a corresponding right in Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin

Constitution. *State v. St. George*, 2002 WI 50, ¶ 14, 252 Wis. 2d 499, 643 N.W.2d 777. The right to present a defense includes the right to present evidence implicating someone else in the charged crime. *See Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284 (1973).

Occasionally, this right requires a court to set aside the rules of evidence, and admit what would otherwise be inadmissible. *E.g.*, *id.*; *Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308 (1974); *State v. Pulizzano*, 155 Wis. 2d 633, 456 N.W.2d 325 (1990).

Though the right to present a defense trumps any conflicting rule of evidence, a defendant is not entitled to admit whatever evidence he or she desires. For example, there is no constitutional right to present irrelevant evidence. *State v. Robinson*, 146 Wis. 2d 315, 331-33, 431 N.W.2d 165 (1988). Nor is a defendant permitted to freely admit evidence where its probative value is substantially outweighed by its risk of unfair prejudice. *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 326; Wis. Stat. § 904.03.

The Supreme Court has held that evidentiary rules must yield to the right to present a defense where the rule is arbitrary or disproportionate to the purpose it is designed to serve, and infringes on a "weighty interest of the accused." *Id.* at 324-25.

The Supreme Court has recognized that a subset of potentially unconstitutional evidentiary rules address evidence showing that someone else committed the charged crime: third-party-perpetrator evidence. *Id.* at 327. The Court recognized the universality of rules governing this evidence, but it has not adopted a single constitutional standard for its admission. Although it has generally left this evidentiary decision to the states, the Court has addressed the constitutional need to admit third-party-perpetrator evidence

on three occasions, reversing the defendant's conviction in each instance. *Alexander v. United States*, 138 U.S. 353, 356 (1891); *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284 (1973); *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319 (2006) (holding a defendant's right to present a defense cannot hinge on the strength of the State's case against the defendant).

> A. Wisconsin's *Denny* test for third-partyperpetrator evidence conflicts with the constitutional right to present a defense.

Until 1984, Wisconsin did not have a bright-line rule for admitting third-party-perpetrator evidence. The court of appeals created the three-prong "legitimate tendency" test in *State v. Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (Ct. App. 1984). In *Denny*, the defendant was charged in a stabbing homicide after he made inculpatory statements to friends and acquaintances. *Id.* at 617. The defendant sought to present evidence at trial that other people had a motive to kill the victim, but the circuit court excluded the evidence, finding it irrelevant. *Id.* at 621-22.

The court of appeals observed that evidence of a third party's motive or opportunity to commit the crime is generally inadmissible without "other proof directly connecting that person with the offense charged." *Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d at 622. Because there was no Wisconsin case addressing third-party-perpetrator evidence, the court turned to a then-recent case from California, *People v. Green*, 609 P.2d 468 (Cal. 1980). Under *Green*, a defendant could not freely admit evidence of a third party's motive to commit the crime; "rather, it must be coupled with substantial evidence tending to directly connect that person with the actual commission of the offense." *Id.* at 480.

The *Denny* court agreed that there must be a direct connection between the third party and the offense, but believed a requirement of "substantial" evidence was too high a burden. Intending to set a lower bar, the court created the "legitimate tendency" test, "a bright line standard requiring that three factors be present, i.e., motive, opportunity and direct connection." *Id.* at 625. Applying that test, the court found motive evidence the defendant sought to introduce was insufficient. *Id.*

Since *Denny*, defendants seeking to admit third-partyperpetrator evidence must prove: (1) the third party had a plausible motive to commit the crime, (2) the third party had the opportunity to commit the crime, and (3) the third party can be directly connected to the crime. *Wilson*, 2015 WI 48, ¶¶ 57-59. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has affirmed that each prong must be satisfied; failure to prove one prong is fatal, even if the evidence implicating the third party is strong. *Id.* at ¶¶ 53-54.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court most recently affirmed use of the *Denny* test in *State v. Wilson*. Although no party argued for a different standard, the court held: "We reaffirm the *Denny* test as the appropriate test for circuit courts to use to determine the admissibility of third-party-perpetrator evidence." 2015 WI 48, ¶ 10.⁴

⁴ A concurrence in *Wilson* claimed that it was an "approved" test because it was cited in a footnote in *Holmes*, which listed a series of state cases addressing third-party-perpetrator evidence. The concurrence overstates the effect of the Court's citation: "The Court's citation to these cases [was] intended to acknowledge the universality of [rules regulating third-party-perpetrator evidence]; there is nothing in the *Holmes* opinion that suggests that the court was endorsing the application of the principle in each case." 2 Jones on Evidence § 13:38 (7th ed.).

In *Wilson*, the defendant was charged with a shooting homicide. The prosecution argued that the defendant drove to where the victim and her boyfriend were sitting in a parked car, then began shooting at them. *Id.*, ¶¶ 4-5. The victim died, but the boyfriend escaped uninjured. *Id.*, ¶ 25. The boyfriend was the only person to identify the defendant as the shooter.⁵ *Id.*, ¶ 24.

The defendant sought to prove that the boyfriend was the actual killer, either by shooting the victim himself or by enlisting the help of another. *Id.*, ¶ 38. In support, he attempted to introduce testimony from two witnesses who saw the boyfriend slap and threaten to kill the victim in the weeks leading up to the homicide. *Id.*, ¶¶ 37-39.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court held this evidence insufficient to satisfy **Denny**'s opportunity prong, finding there was overwhelming evidence that the boyfriend could not have killed the victim himself. **Id.**, ¶ 84. The court also held there was insufficient evidence to show the boyfriend could have committed the crime indirectly, finding that doing so would have required the defendant to prove the boyfriend had the "contacts, influence, and finances to quickly hire or engage a shooter or shooters to gun down a woman on a public street." **Id.**, ¶ 86.

Though Wisconsin has adhered to the *Denny* test since its inception, the test is based on a fundamental misreading of the cases purportedly supporting its adoption. *Green*, the case on which the test was based, held:

⁵ Another witness saw the defendant's car at the scene of the shooting, but could not identify the shooter. *Id.* at \P 29.

It is settled, however, that evidence that a third person had a motive to commit the crime with which the defendant is charged is inadmissible if it simply affords a possible ground of suspicion against such person; rather, it must be coupled with substantial evidence tending to directly connect that person with the actual commission of the offense.

609 P.2d at 480. In other words, before evidence of a third party's *motive* to commit the crime can be introduced, the defendant must produce other evidence "directly connecting" the person to the crime. The **Denny** court flipped this reasoning on its head by requiring evidence of both motive and opportunity in *all* cases, even when the defendant wants to introduce non-motive evidence incriminating a third party.

As the *Denny* court held—and essentially every other jurisdiction has agreed—a third party's motive or opportunity is inadmissible without more. David McCord, "*But Perry Mason Made It Look So Easy!*": *The Admissibility of Evidence Offered by A Criminal Defendant to Suggest That Someone Else Is Guilty*, 63 Tenn. L. Rev. 917, 952-55 (1996). Like *Green*, most jurisdictions hold that "it is not enough to simply show that another had the motive to commit the crime"; there must be evidence that "directly connects" the third party to the crime. *State v. Mark*, 154 A.3d 572, 578 (Conn App. Ct. 2017); *see also People v. Elmarr*, 351 P.3d 431, 439-40 (Co. 2015); *State v. McKay*, 459 S.W.3d 450, 458 (Mo. Ct. App. 2014); *People v. Kaurish*, 802 P.2d 278, 295-96 (Ca. 1990) (en banc); 41 C.J.S. Homicide § 328; 2 Jones on Evidence § 13:38 (7th ed.).

These cases are motivated by a legitimate desire to prevent trials from devolving into endless litigation about who else had a motive to commit the crime. As the **Denny** court wrote: without something connecting the third party to the crime, "a defendant could conceivably produce evidence tending to show that hundreds of other persons had some motive or animus against the deceased—degenerating the proceedings into a trial of collateral issues." *Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d at 623-24.

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