### **RECEIVED**

### STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-27-2018

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1318-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

FREDRICK RAMSEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A NONFINAL ORDER ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK A. SANDERS, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-8118 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) burgundysl@doj.state.wi.us

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

need to show more than an unaccounted-for period of time to implicate a third party." *Id.* (citation omitted).

In Wilson, Wilson failed to demonstrate opportunity when he sought to admit evidence that a third party had the opportunity to hire a shooter to kill the victim in that case. There, the court observed that based on Wilson's theory of defense and the evidence available, the third party would have had to arrange for a murder of a woman in a public street in a matter of one to two hours at most. Wilson, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 85. But there was no evidence that the third party "had the contacts, influence, and finances to quickly hire or engage a shooter or shooters to gun down a woman on a public street." *Id.* There was no evidence that the third party had access to the vehicle—which witnesses identified as Wilson's—seen chasing the victim. *Id.* Wilson provided no phone records supporting the theory that the third party arranged for a hit. Id. He presented nothing tying the third party to the weapons used nor offered the identities of anyone that the third party likely hired to commit the crime. Id.

Likewise, here, Ramsey failed his burden of showing relevant evidence that Teague had the opportunity to develop a motive to attack and kill Taylor. To start, the only evidence of Teague's presence at the crime scene is (1) the partial profile of his DNA found under Taylor's left fingernails, and (2) that he lived within about one half-mile of where Taylor was murdered. But that Teague lived within blocks of where Taylor was murdered simply means that he lived nearby, just like the hundreds of people who lived in this northside Milwaukee neighborhood.

Further, that a partial profile of Teague's DNA was found under Taylor's nails simply means that Teague's DNA directly or indirectly transferred to Taylor at some point before the murder, but that does not necessarily place him at the crime scene. In fact, Teague's DNA was found nowhere else at the crime scene. The State Crime Lab tested numerous samples from items at the scene—including debris from Taylor's right fingernails, DNA from a blade, cigarette butts, a bottle of Mike's Hard Lemonade, a bottle of Everfresh, and a styrofoam cup—and excluded Teague as a contributor to DNA on those items. (R. 10:7–8.)

Finally, there was nothing else to establish that Teague had the opportunity to attack Taylor. Ramsey identifies no witnesses who had seen Teague before, let alone placed him at the scene. Police talked to Teague, who denied having ever seen Taylor before. (R. 10:11; 21:28.) Law enforcement also talked to people who lived at the address where Taylor was killed and others close to Taylor, and none of those people had ever seen Teague before. (R. 10:13, 14-15, 16–17, 18–19, 20–21.) And here, like in *Wilson*, the opportunity time window was small: police estimated that, based on their contact with Taylor and Ramsey just before her murder, 12 to 14 minutes elapsed between when Ramsey and Taylor separated at the gas station and when Taylor was stabbed to death. (R. 18:155.) There is nothing to suggest that during that short time, Teague happened to encounter Taylor, develop a motive to stab her, and committed the crime.

Ramsey relies on the circuit court's determination that Ramsey satisfied the opportunity prong based on the partial profile of Teague's DNA, which, in the court's view, "indicate[s] that there would have to have been some relatively recent contact between the defendant and the victim." (Ramsey's Br. 27; R. 30:24.) For the reasons above, however, the circuit court's decision on opportunity, based on nothing more than the DNA evidence—was inconsistent with *Wilson* and its guidance on how courts are to assess that prong. That Teague had either direct or indirect contact

with Taylor at some point before her murder establishes a connection between Teague and Taylor, but it does not necessarily connect Teague to the crime scene as is required under the opportunity analysis. *Cf. Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 68 (stating that opportunity generally requires defendant to place the third party at the scene or to show he otherwise had the ability to carry out the specific act). In sum, Ramsey's offer of proof of opportunity does not pass muster.

## D. Ramsey failed to demonstrate a direct connection.

The third prong of *Denny* requires courts to consider "whether the proffered evidence is so remote in time, place or circumstances that a direct connection cannot be made between the third person and the crime." *Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d at 624 (citation omitted). When assessing the direct connection prong, circuit courts "assess the proffered evidence in conjunction with all other evidence to determine whether, under the totality of the circumstances, the evidence suggests that a third-party perpetrator actually committed the crime." Wilson, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 71 (citations omitted). "In sum, courts are not to look merely for a connection between the third party and the crime, they are to look for some direct connection between the third party and the perpetration of the crime." Id.

There are any number of ways a proponent can establish a third-party's direct connection to a crime, such as evidence of a third party's self-incriminating statement or evidence showing that the third party had exclusive control of the weapon used in the crime. *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 72 (citations omitted). But "[m]ere presence at the crime scene or acquaintance with the victim . . . is not normally enough to establish direct connection. *Id.* (citation omitted).

Setting aside the DNA evidence, Ramsey offers nothing else connecting Teague to the perpetration of the crime. Teague has not made any self-incriminating statements. Rather, he has consistently maintained that he does not know Taylor, that he does not carry a gun or knife, and that he has never killed anyone. There is no evidence linking Teague to the knife that the killer used to stab Taylor. Nor is there anything about Taylor's murder that makes it an unusual "signature" crime of which Teague has either committed or claimed to have committed in the past. Cf. Vollbrecht, 344 Wis. 2d 69, ¶ 28 (affirming a finding of direct connection where the third-party made incriminating statements about committing the crime at issue as well as other crimes with the same unusual features). Here, someone stabbed Taylor to death; Teague's record shows that he has thrown rocks at cars while intoxicated and, in 2012, committed substantial battery of a younger family member. (R. 10:3 n.1.) Those crimes do not establish signature pattern supporting the direct connection prong.

In arguing for a direct connection, Ramsey offers the same proof—the partial profile of Teague's DNA under Taylor's left fingernails—that he offered to support the opportunity prong. (Ramsey's Br. 28–29.) While the opportunity and direct connection prongs overlap in some ways, they require different proof. The opportunity prong requires a showing connecting the third party to the crime scene or weapon, whereas the direct connection requires a step further, i.e., showing connecting the third party to the actual commission of the crime. *See Wilson*, 362 Wis. 3d 193, ¶¶ 68, 71. Ramsey has made neither showing here.

To be sure, that a partial profile of Teague's DNA was found under Taylor's left fingernails is pertinent to the direct-connection analysis. But while there is no obvious innocent explanation for how Teague's DNA likely got there, there likewise is no obvious incriminating explanation, given the dearth of any other evidence linking Teague to the commission of the crime.

Further, while DNA evidence can often, by its nature, provide strong evidence of that person's involvement in a crime, the evidence of Teague's DNA here lacks the context that would normally make it compelling. To start, Teague's DNA was found nowhere else at the scene or on Taylor's body. If Teague was physically contacting Taylor by attempting to assault her and she was fighting off his advances, as Ramsey suggests, presumably Teague's DNA would have appeared as a major contributor, with a full profile, on more locations on her body, and in other locations.

Moreover, Teague's DNA could have transferred to Taylor's left fingernails in any number of direct or indirect ways—the two of them did not have to have come into direct contact. Ramsey insists that the DNA had to have transferred when Teague was close enough to touch Taylor "and clearly did something" to cause Taylor to "penetrate into his living tissue" with her left hand. (Ramsey's Br. 26.) "DNA under the fingernails," Ramsey writes, "requires a scratch sufficient to 'penetrate into the person's living tissue." (Ramsey's Br. 28 (citing *Eby v. State*, 165 S.W.3d 723, 730 (Tex. App. 2005)).

Eby does not support Ramsey's statement that the DNA had to transfer by way of direct and penetrative contact. Indeed, the expert in Eby also testified that in addition to direct contact, "DNA can be transferred from one person to another without any direct contact between the individuals." Eby, 165 S.W.3d at 730.

And none of the articles that Ramsey lists (Ramsey's Br. 28)—to the extent one can draw any conclusions from

them without expert testimony—stands for the proposition that DNA under fingernails must be transferred by direct, intimate contact, and cannot be transferred by casual or fact. indirect means. In the literature appears acknowledge that indirect transfer can happen, albeit much less often than it would with direct contact. 4 Hence, that it may be less likely that a person will transfer detectable DNA indirectly does not mean that Teague and Taylor necessarily had direct contact, let alone that they had direct contact at the time of her murder. In any event, nothing precludes Ramsey from presenting evidence at trial that indirect transfer is much less likely than direct when arguing that the male third-party DNA detected here compels reasonable doubt as to his guilt. But that evidence does not support his burden of production under the direct-connection prong.

Finally, Ramsey urges this Court to reverse because doing so will allow him to present "[e]vidence of an unknown stranger's DNA under [Taylor's] fingernails, along with her dying declaration, [which] tends to prove that Mr. Ramsey is not guilty." (Ramsey's Br. 29.) But Ramsey is permitted to present precisely that evidence. Nothing about the court's decision bars Ramsey from presenting evidence and arguing that (1) no physical evidence tied Ramsey to the murder and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See, e.g., Olivia Cook & Lindsey Dixon, The Prevalence of Mixed DNA Profiles on Fingernail Samples Taken from Individuals in the General Population, 1 Forensic Sci. Int'l: Genetics 62, 62–63 (2007); Edward A. Dowlman et al., The Prevalence of Mixed DNA Profiles on Fingernail Swabs, 50 Sci. & Just. 64, 70 (2010); A. Fernandez-Rodriguez et al., Genetic Analysis of Fingernail Debris: Application to Forensic Casework, 1239 Int'l Congress Series 921, 923–24 (2003); Melinda Matte et al., Prevalence and Resistance of Foreign DNA Beneath Fingernails, 6 Forensic Sci. Int'l: Genetics 236, 242 (2012).

none of Ramsey's DNA was detected at the scene, (2) a partial profile of another man's DNA was detected under Taylor's left fingernails, (3) Ramsey's confession to Taylor's murder was false, and (4) other evidence supporting his defense that a stranger attacked Taylor, including Taylor's statement to Spinks that "[s]omebody stabbed me." The only thing that the circuit court's decision excludes is Teague's *identity*. This is a fair result given that Ramsey cannot establish a legitimate tendency that Teague committed the crime.

In sum, because Ramsey failed his burden of satisfying any of the three required prongs of the *Denny* test and failed to establish a legitimate tendency that Teague could have committed the crime, the circuit court properly excluded evidence that Teague was the source of the partial profile detected in the mix of DNA found under Taylor's left fingernails. That decision was a sound application of *Denny*, and it did not violate Ramsey's right to present a defense. This Court should affirm.

# II. Ramsey did not preserve a constitutional challenge to *Denny* in this appeal.

Ramsey proposes that this appeal involves two issues, arguing that *Denny* is unconstitutional in addition to challenging the circuit court's application of *Denny*. (Ramsey's Br. 6–24.) This Court should not address Ramsey's constitutional challenge to *Denny*.

To start, Ramsey failed to present this claim in his petition for leave to appeal. A party who obtains the right to appeal from a nonfinal order may raise only those issues outlined in the petition in the later filed briefs. *State v. Aufderhaar*, 2004 WI App 208, ¶ 12, 277 Wis. 2d 173, 689 N.W.2d 674, *rev'd on other grounds*, 2005 WI 108, 283 Wis. 2d 336, 700 N.W.2d 4. Here, the sole issue Ramsey

raised in his petition was a challenge to the circuit court's application of *Denny*: "Did the defense meet its burden of production to the circuit court to provide a 'legitimate tendency' that a third party may have committed the homicide and therefore should be allowed to present specific information about a third party at trial?" (R. 21:6.) In its order granting the petition, this Court did not identify any additional issues that the parties could raise. (R. 26:1–2.) Accordingly, Ramsey cannot raise—let alone obtain relief on—this claim raised for the first time in his brief.

Moreover, Ramsey did not raise his constitutional challenge to *Denny* before the circuit court. "It is a fundamental principle of appellate review that issues must be preserved at the circuit court. Issues that are not preserved at the circuit court, even alleged constitutional errors, generally will not be considered on appeal." State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727 (citing State v. Caban, 210 Wis. 2d 597, 604, 563 N.W.2d 501 (1997)). "Raising issues at the trial court level allows the trial court to correct or avoid the alleged error in the first place, eliminating the need for appeal. It also gives both parties and the trial judge notice of the issue and a fair opportunity to address the objection." *Id.* ¶ 12 (citing *State v.* Erickson, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 766, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999)). Here, before the circuit court, Ramsey challenged that court's application of *Denny*. He did not challenge *Denny*'s constitutionality. Therefore, his claim is unpreserved for this court's review.

Finally, even if this claim is somehow properly before this Court in these proceedings, this Court cannot grant Ramsey relief on it. Ramsey is asking this Court to overrule its own decision in *Denny* and *Denny*'s progeny, including *Wilson*, in which the Wisconsin Supreme Court most recently affirmed the *Denny* framework. This Court cannot overrule itself or the Wisconsin Supreme Court. *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189–90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). Ramsey invokes *State v. Jennings*, 2002 WI 44, ¶ 19, 252 Wis. 2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142, and its holding that this Court "must not follow a decision" of the supreme court "if it conflicts with a subsequent controlling decision of the United States Supreme Court." (Ramsey's Br. 7.) But he fails to identify a "subsequently controlling decision of the United States Supreme Court" with which *Denny* conflicts.

At most, Ramsey suggests that Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319 (2006), conflicts with Denny and Wilson and therefore controls. (Ramsey's Br. 18, 21.) But Holmes was not issued subsequent to the supreme court's 2015 decision in Wilson. Nor does Holmes conflict with Denny or Wilson. The Holmes Court held that courts may not weigh the strength of the case against the defendant when determining whether to admit third-party perpetrator evidence. 547 U.S. at 330–31. Denny and Wilson are consistent with that holding. See Wilson, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 69 (explaining that "[o]verwhelming evidence against the defendant may not serve as the basis for excluding evidence" of a third-party perpetrator (citing Holmes, 547 U.S. at 331)).

Thus, this Court should decline to address Ramsey's constitutional challenge. If this Court disagrees with the State and wishes to consider the merits of Ramsey's newly raised constitutional challenge to *Denny*, the State respectfully requests an opportunity to file a supplemental brief on the merits.

#### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should affirm the non-final order of the circuit court denying Ramsey's *Denny* motion.